RECEIVED 12-07-2016

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT IV

State of Wisconsin

Plaintiff-Respondent,

Appeal No. 2016AP002012

v.

Paula L. Elbe,

Defendant-Appellant.

State of Wisconsin

Plaintiff-Respondent,

Appeal No. 2016AP002013

v.

Emory J. Elbe,

Defendant-Appellant.

Consolidated Appeals From Orders of the Circuit Court For Sauk County, Branch I, Case No. 96-CM-710 and 96-CM-711,

Hon. Michael P. Screnock, Presiding.

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

KENNEDY LAW OFFICE Robert A. Kennedy, Jr. Attorney for Appellants State Bar No. 1009177 209 E. Madison Street Crandon, WI 54520 (715)478-3386

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED

- I. Does Article I Section 7 of the Wisconsin Constitution provide a right to counsel for all indigent defendants charged with a crime even if no jail is imposed?

 Answered "No" by the Circuit Court.
- II. If so, are the defendants entitled to an evidentiary hearing to determine if they were partially indigent on September 12, 1996 for purpose of PD 3.40(1)?

 Answered "No" by the Circuit Court.
- III. If partially indigent, must the convictions be vacated due to denial of the right to counsel provided by Article I Section 7 of the Wisconsin Constitution?

 Answered "No" by the Circuit Court.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument and publication are not necessary.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

NATURE OF APPEAL

These two appeals were consolidated by order dated October 26, 2016 from two related proceedings in the Circuit Court of Sauk County, Branch I, Hon. Michael P. Screnock, Presiding. The trial court issued an oral decision during a motion hearing on June 6, 2016 dismissing the motions brought by defendants to vacate their convictions. The defendants alleged their 1997 disorderly convictions were preceded by SPD improperly failing to recognize both defendants were partially indigent pursuant to PD 3.04(1).

Judge Screnock found no constitutional right as an indigent to counsel for the disorderly conduct prosecutions for the reason no jail imposed. Both defendants moved for reconsideration arguing Article I Section 7 of the Wisconsin Constitution afforded them broader protection than the Sixth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution. Judge Screnock denied the reconsideration motions in a Decision and Order dated September 28, 2016. This appeal is from the oral decision of June 6, 2016 (not reduced to a written order) and the Decision and Orders dated September 28, 2016.

Appellants must first establish the Circuit Court erred by ruling State ex rel Winnie v. Harris,75 Wis.2d 547, 556, 249 NW2d 791 (1977) has been overruled by implication. Next, Elbe's must show they are entitled to an evidentiary hearing to determine if they qualified for SPD counsel on September 12, 1996 pursuant to PD 3.04(1) as both being partially indigent. Denial of counsel is the type of due process violation that renders the convictions void. There is no time limit on vacating a void conviction.

Elbe's will ask the orders dismissing their motions to vacate be reversed and the matters remanded for an evidentiary hearing as to compliance with PD 3.04(1) on September 12, 1996.

Entries which are underlined are found in the record for Appeal 16-AP-2013 (Emory Elbe). All entries not underlined are found in the record Appeal 16-AP-2012 (Paula Elbe).

DENIAL OF SPD AND/OR DEAN COUNSEL

The criminal complaint against both defendants $(1)(\underline{2})$ alleged on July 3, 1996 at Devil's Lake State Park a man was beating his wife on the beach and pushed her to the

ground. The wife slapped the husband in the face. Both husband and wife were arrested, with Mr. Elbe spending one day in jail. (8) No bond was set for Paula, however Emory had a \$500 bond. (1) The initial appearance was August 28, 1996 (1).

Neither defendant was ever represented by counsel, and they were convicted pro se. The shelf life for the transcripts has expired however, minute sheets for the Court hearings remain available. The first hearing was August 28, 1996. (32) $(\underline{37})$ Proceedings were continued to September 18, 1996. (2) $(\underline{3})$

Elbe's contacted SPD. On September 11, 1996 the Elbe's signed a motion for appointment of counsel prepared by SPD. (3) ($\frac{4}{2}$) This is a two-page document filed September 12, 1996. The second page of each motion (3-2) ($\frac{4}{2}$ -2) is the same financial sheet. This page also appears in the record at ($\frac{10}{2}$ -17). This financial sheet is in the Appendix at (A-Ap. 109).

The minute sheets for September 12, 1996 (33)(38) both begin at 10:45 AM and are generally the same.

Attorney David Knaapen appeared from SPD. The request for indigent counsel, through SPD and/or Dean, was denied.

The minute sheets (33)(38) and the financial sheet (A-Ap. 109) show a family of five domiciled in Dane County.

Paula Elbe worked at Marshall's and had take-home pay of \$1,080 per month. Emory Elbe had no income.

Social Security earnings records for Emory Elbe for 1996 ($\underline{14}$ -3) show zero. Paula earned \$12,730 dollars in 1996. (9-3) Other assets would be one vehicle worth \$0 - \$100, and another vehicle worth \$400-\$500. The Elbe's could not afford to hire private counsel at \$750 retainer and \$95 per hour. (3-1)($\underline{4}$ -1) The motions also indicated SPD denied coverage as of September 11, 1996.

The length of the hearing on September 12, 1996 is unknown. The minutes do not show Mr. and Mrs. Elbe waived their right to be represented by separate counsel.

The next hearing was September 18, 1996. This was an initial appearance. $(34)(\underline{39})$ Both cases were set for final pretrial on December 17, 1996. $(4)(\underline{5})$ The minute sheets for December 17, 1996 $(35)(\underline{40})$ show both defendants entered pleas. There had been previous plea discussions. (37)(42)

Paula would later disagree with the plea agreement (38)(39) and sentencing was set for February 3, 1997 (5). Sentencing took place January 27, 1997. (36) The sentence was \$253. (6) The last date of activity for Paula's case was January 27, 1997.

Emory's case was set for February 17, 1997. $(\underline{6})$ The minute sheet $(\underline{41})$ says "can't afford Atty." The plea questionaire $(\underline{7})$ has two hand written entries "no attorney." The sentence was \$253. $(\underline{8})$ The last date of activity on Emory's case was February 17, 1997.

THE SPD'S REGULATIONS

The administrative code provisions for the time period of July 2, 1996 - February 18, 1997 are substantially different then current regulations. The option of parital indigence, PD 3.04(1), has long since been repealed. A set of PD 3 in effect for that time period is in the Appendix. (A-Ap. 139-146)

The cost of counsel for a misdemeanor was \$400. PD 3.02(1). If there was one attorney for both Emory and Paula that cost would be \$400. If separate counsel was required that cost would be \$800.

The Court of Appeals decision in State v. Vinje, 201 Wis.2d 98, 100, 548 NW2d 118 (Ct.Ap. 1996) compelled the application of PD 3.03 (2m). The criminal complaint alleged mutual spousal physical contact therefore each spouse became the victim of the other. Not only was SPD

required to appoint separate counsel but only half of the Elbe's monthly assets and liabilities could be offset against the \$400 cost of counsel per spouse.

Should the cost of counsel (\$400 per spouse) exceed the available assets there is indigence. PD3.01. The case life is four months. PD3.03(4). Over a four month period, should available assets exceed \$400 by \$100 dollars or less the defendant is fully indigent. PD3.038(1)(a). If the margin is between \$100.01 and \$399.99 the defendant is partially indigent. PD3.038(1)(b). If partially indigent SPD must appoint counsel. PD3.04(1).

The defendants would subpoen SPD to the June 6, 2016 hearing. $(15-1)(\underline{20}-1)$ The SPD file has been purged. $(18)(\underline{23})$ SPD apparently applied the entire spousal assets and liabilities separately against \$400 instead of \$800. $(18-1)(\underline{23}-1)$ Defendants would later argue the difference between cost of counsel being \$400 or \$800 would make the difference as to both defendants being partially indigent. (8-7)(13-7)

THE MOTION TO VACATE

On November 25, 2015 the defendants moved to vacate the convictions for the reason SPD wrongfully denied

counsel at PD3.04(1). $(7-8)(\underline{12}-\underline{13})$ The Elbe's also moved for judicial notice of their social security earnings records. $(9-11)(\underline{14}-16)$ A status conference was set for March 3, 2016 $(13)(\underline{18})$. The status conference set a briefing schedule and hearing date for June 6, 2016 (14)(19).

The defense alleged SPD erred by not appointing counsel. $(15)(\underline{20})$ The State did not provide it's brief $(21)(\underline{22})$ to defense counsel until the actual hearing. (27-2:15-25).

THE MOTION HEARING

Defense counsel was unaware the State would argue the U.S. Constitution has been interpreted to provide the right to counsel when no jail was imposed. (27-3:5-16) The Court granted a 34 minute recess. (27-4:3) The defense maintained the real issue was if SPD erred in the mathematical calculations (27-3:20-21)(27-5:15-16). Defense counsel disagreed with the State's brief for the reason SPD eligibility controls (27-5:23-6:2). There was a Dean hearing in 1996 (27-6:15-16), however it is the SPD denial not the Dean denial which is the basis for the defense motion. (27-7:20-23).

The Circuit Court dismissed the motions as a matter of law. (27-9:18-23) Judge Screnock made no mention of the Wisconsin Constitution.

Defense counsel requested an offer of proof as to financial eligibility (27-11:4-8). That request was denied. (27-11:9) Judge Screnock was concerned the passage of time, lack of transcripts and records, made the present motion untimely. (27-11:11-15) The Circuit Court assumed the 1996 indigence hearing and SPD calculations were properly done. (27-9:24-10:10) The defense motion to take judicial notice of the Social Security earnings was denied. (27-10:23-11:2)

THE RECONSIDERATION MOTION

Since neither the State or Circuit Court considered the application of Article I Section 7 of the Wisconsin Constitution, defense counsel promptly moved for reconsideration. (19)(24) The reconsideration motion pointed out the motion to vacate was based upon the right to counsel under both the Sixth Amendment and Article I Section 7 of the Wisconsin Constitution. (7)(12) The reconsideration motion proceeded only upon the Wisconsin Constitution, citing State Ex rel Winnie v. Harris 75 Wis.2d 547, 556. (20-1)(25-1).

The state argued article I, Section 7 of the Wisconsin constitution affords no greater right to counsel then does the Sixth Amendment, and Winnie was no longer good law. $(21-6)(\underline{26}-6).$ The defendants replied by contending it was the State's burden to show Winnie had been overruled by implication. The Supreme Court of Iowa recently on the same issue held State constitutions do not always limit defendant's rights in conformity with the Federal Constitution. (22-2)(27-2)

Judge Screnock issued a Decision and Order on September 28, 2016 $(23)(\underline{28})$. The motion for reconsideration was denied. The decision recognized two prongs. One, a bright line imprisonment in law standard, was what the defense argued. This standard was adopted by Winnie in 1977.

The other, an individualized prediction, was the Sixth Amendment standard adopted in 1979 by <u>Scott v. Illinois</u>.

Under this standard, as long as no jail was imposed there was no previous right to counsel.

Judge Screnock concluded the 1977 <u>Winnie</u> decision has been overruled by implication and the bright line test did not apply in 1996. The Wisconsin Constitution provided the

same post-charge right to counsel as the Sixth Amendment. $(23-5)(\underline{28}-5) \quad \text{The Circuit Court extrapolated this}$ interpretation to limit $\underline{\text{Winnie}}$ to the domain of $\underline{\text{Scott v.}}$ Illinois (23-6)(28-6).

The defendants have appealed from that reconsideration. $(24)(\underline{29})$ No written order was filed concerning the June 6, 2016 hearing.

ARGUMENT

I. STATE EX REL WINNIE V. HARRIS, 75 WIS.2D 547, 556, 249 NW2D 791 (1977) HAS NOT BEEN OVERRULED THROUGH IMPLICATION OR CHANGE IN TRIAL COURT PROCEDURES.

The denial of a motion to vacate a judgment is an appealable order. Wengerd v. Reinhart, 114 Wis.2d 575, 582, 338 NW2d 861 (Ct. App. 1983). A criminal conviction obtained in violation of a defendant's constitutional right to counsel is void and can be challenged at any time.

State v. Madison, 120 Wis.2d 150, 158, 353 NW2d 835 (Ct.App.1984). The standard of review of the denial of a motion to vacate is an erroneous exercise of discretion.

An error of law made during a decision denying a motion to vacate can constitute an erroneous exercise of discretion.

Franke v. Franke, 268 Wis.2d 360, 391, 674 NW2d 832, 2004 WI 8 ¶54 (Ct.App. 2004).

The Circuit Court committed an error of law by ruling
Article I Section 7 of the Wisconsin Constitution does not
provide a bright line rule all indigent defendants have the
right to counsel even though no jail is imposed. This
provision reads as follows: § 7. Rights of accused
Section 7. In all criminal prosecutions the accused shall
enjoy the right to be heard by himself and counsel; to

demand the nature and cause of the accusation against him; to meet the witnesses face to face; to have compulsory process to compel the attendance of witnesses in his behalf; and in prosecutions by indictment, or information, to a speedy public trial by an impartial jury of the county or district wherein the offense shall have been committed; which county or district shall have been previously ascertained by law.

This provision was interpreted in State ex rel Winnie v. Harris, 75 Wis.2d 547, 556, 249 NW2d 791 (1977) to provide counsel to all indigent defendants even if no jail was imposed. The Supreme Court concluded, "To insure the fair administration of justice we hold that whenever a defendant is charged with a crime, the penalty for which includes the requirement or option of incarceration, he must be advised of his right to counsel and further advised that if he is indigent counsel will be furnished to him at public expense unless he knowingly and intelligently waives such right to counsel." The Circuit Court ruled this holding would become inconsistent with subsequent passages by the Wisconsin Supreme Court equating the Sixth Amendment with the right to counsel under Article I Section 7.

The Circuit Court overlooked the 2011 decision of

State v. Forbush 332 Wis.2d 620, 645-647, 796 NW2d 741, 2011 WI 25 ¶43-45 (2011). In Forbush, the history behind the right to counsel was reviewed. All indigent defendants are within the ambit of Article I Section 7. "We recognize the importance of having a robust right to counsel under Article I, Section 7, and that to be effective, this right must include the right to have the expense of counsel for indigent defendants covered by the State." This Wisconsin tradition dating back to 1850 is recognized nationally.

State v. Young 863 NW2d 249 262-3 (Iowa 2015).

The Circuit Court erred by ruling the right to counsel under Article I, Section 7 is never broader than the Sixth Amendment. State v. Novak 107 Wis.2d 31, 41, 318 NW2d 364 (1982). Some states have applied their State constitution to provide counsel for all indigents charged with crimes even if no jail results. State v. Young 863 NW2d 249, 272 (Iowa 2015). Wisconsin remains one of those states and the Circuit Court was required to follow State ex rel Winnie v. Harris, 75 Wis.2d 547, 556, 249 NW2d 791 (1977).

The reasons for the 1977 <u>Winnie</u> holding remain in full force and effect today. Should an indigent defendant be wrongfully denied counsel the position of the sentencing judge becomes untenable. If jail is imposed the right to

counsel is violated. If no jail is imposed to avoid that issue the District Attorney may be wrongfully denied a jail sentence. Id.

The position of the Elbes finds support in the judicial benchbook series. The Office of Judicial Education provided the First Edition in 1982 and the Second Edition in 2001. There is a disclaimer the benchbooks are not to be cited as independent legal authority. The Elbes refer to the benchbooks as evidence of routine courtroom procedures. Relevant portions are in the Appendix. (A-Ap. 133-138).

Both Editions not only cite <u>Winnie</u> but suggest a verbatim disclosure be made to criminal defendants. These disclosures (A.-Ap. 134, 135, 138) remain unchanged between 1982 and 2016. The disclosure specify "Because this charge carries with it the possibility of jail time (imprisonment)

..." This disclosure is directly contrary to the ruling of the Circuit Court. On September 12, 1996 the Elbe's were facing jail and had the right to counsel pursuant to Article I, Section 7 of the Wisconsin Constitution.

The Circuit Court had no basis to determine there was an implied overruling without that issue even being

discussed in the cases the Circuit Court relied upon. $\underline{\text{Silver Lake Sanitary Dist. v. DNR}}$ 232 Wis.2d 217, 225, 607 $\underline{\text{NW2d 50}}$, 2000 WI App. 19 ¶13 (Ct.App. 1999).

The Court's error is harmless if Elbe's cannot meet their burden to establish SPD eligibility. State v. Dean 163 Wis.2d 503, 513, 471 NW2d 310 (Ct. Ap. 1991).

II. THE RECORD ESTABLISHES A BASIS FOR AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING CONCERNING PD3.04(1) AS OF SEPTEMBER 12, 1996.

The Elbe's had the burden to prove they were partially indigent on September 12, 1996. Id. The Circuit Court ruled this claim not feasible due to the passage of time and lack of hearing transcripts. The good faith effort by the Elbe's to reconstruct their financial profile as of September 12, 1996 is sufficient under the circumstances. State v. Baker 169 Wis. 2d 49, 78, 485 NW2d 237 (1992).

The SPD denial of September 11, 1996 was subject to de novo review by the Circuit Court pursuant to §977.06(4)

1995 Stats. State v. Kennedy 315 Wis.2d 507, 518, 768 NW2d

412, 2008 WI App. 186 ¶12 (Ct. Ap. 2008). The standard of review is whether SPD properly applied their regulations

under the proper mathematical calculations. <u>Id.</u> One option in 1996 was partial indigency. <u>State v. Dean</u> 163 Wis.2d 503, 515 n.2, 471 NW2d 310 (Ct. Ap. 1991).

SPD was required to appoint separate counsel as there is no record of a waiver of the right to separate counsel.

State v. Kaye 106 Wis.2d 1, 14, 315 NW2d 337 (1982). The cost of counsel is \$400 per case PD3.02(1). The recent case of State v. Vinje 201 Wis.2d 98, 100, 548 NW2d 118 (Ct.Ap.1996) made clear the interaction of §766.31(3) and PD3.03(2m) require SPD to equally divide the income and specified expenses between Mr. and Mrs. Elbe over a four month case life period. PD3.03(4).

Partial indigency occurs for each spouse when the available assets are between \$100.01 and \$399.99. PD3.038(1)(b). In that event there is SPD coverage. PD3.04(1).

Emory has no earnings and Paula has take home pay of \$1,080 per month. PD3.03(1) A mandatory subtraction form take home pay is a statutory amount for a family of five. PD3.03(2). This amount for area one, (Dane County) is \$886 per month $(8-5)(\underline{13}-5)$. Paula's net earnings are further reduced by a preexisting utility arrearage payment

plan. PD3.03(2). There was a utility arrearage of \$300 being paid at \$34 per month. Paula's monthly net earnings \$160 per month.

The remaining assets would be one fourth of the \$600 vehicle value, or \$150. PD3.03(1). The total monthly available assets is \$197.50, or \$98.75 per spouse per month. The cost of defense is \$100 per spouse per month. Both spouses are partially indigent. PD3.038(1)(b) The Circuit Court was required to order SPD coverage. PD3.04(1)

CONCLUSION

The dismissal of the motions to vacate must be reversed and these cases remanded with directions for an evidentiary hearing as to the applicability of PD3.04(1). Should defendants prevail the convictions must be vacated and the defendants allowed to withdraw their pleas. In that event defendants will seek dismissal for violation of the right to speedy trial found at the Sixth Amendment to the Federal Constitution and Article I, Section 7 of the State Constitution.