RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS 2-22-2016 TRICT IV

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

Appeal No. 2016AP002012 Circuit Court Case No. 96-CM-710

PAULA L. ELBE,

Defendant-Appellant.

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

Appeal No. 2016AP002013 Circuit Court Case No. 96-CM-711

EMORY L. ELBE,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A FINAL ORDER ENTERED ON SEPTEMBER 28, 2016 IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR SAUK COUNTY, BRANCH I, THE HONORABLE MICHAEL P. SCRENOCK, PRESIDING.

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

The Elbes challenge their respective 1996 disorderly convictions and have raised several issues to that end. It is the opinion of the State that these issues – as presented by the Elbes – fail to address the controlling legal issues concerning J. Screnock's written final order (dated September 28, 2016) as well as those concerning the requested *vacatur* of a twenty year-old misdemeanor conviction. As such, the State has reformulated the issues, as outlined *supra*.

In response to these seminal issues, the State argues that the Elbes' assertions of a violation of right to counsel is baseless, as no constitutional right – under either the Sixth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution or Art. I, § 7 of the Wisconsin State Constitution – attaches to a misdemeanor crime where the defendant is sentenced to a fine only. In furtherance of that argument, the State argues that any apparent conflict among Wisconsin Supreme Court jurisprudence should be resolved in accordance with its most recent pronouncements. Further, even if the right to counsel did attach, the State argues that, given the extreme delay in filing this action, the unavailability of records, and the prejudice such unavailability causes the State, an action to vacate the Elbes' convictions should be barred by laches. Lastly, even if the court concludes that the Elbes possessed a constitutionally valid claim and such claim is not barred by laches, the State further contends that – upon inspection of the available record – the Elbes have made no factual showing that J. Taggart erred in his determination of indigency. For all of the above-mentioned reasons, the State requests that the Court affirm J. Screnock's written final order and deny the Elbes' request for an evidentiary hearing and *vacatur* of their 1996 convictions.

Standard of Review

The issues presented in this appeal are constitutional in nature and mixed questions of law and fact, to which a two-step standard of review is applied. *See* e.g., *State v. Post*, 2007 WI 60, ¶ 8, 301 Wis.2d 1, 733 N.W.2d 634. The circuit

court's findings of historical fact are reviewed under the clearly erroneous standard. *Id.* The application of those facts to constitutional principles are reviewed independently. *Id.*

I. The denial of counsel to an indigent criminal defendant who was sentenced solely to pay a fine for a misdemeanor violation does not invoke the right to counsel under the Sixth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution.

The Elbes assert that they were wrongfully denied legal representation during this case in violation of the Art I, § 7 of the Wisconsin Constitution." But that assertion raises an importantly related question: did the Elbes have a constitutional right to representation during this case? In order to answer this question, we must first examine the federal right to counsel contained within the Sixth Amendment. The Supreme Court of the United States has already undertaken such examination in several cases, including *Scott v. Illinois*, 440 U.S. 367 (1979) and *Nichols v. United States*, 511 U.S. 738 (1994).

In *Scott*, the defendant was convicted of misdemeanor theft and fined \$50. *Scott*, 440 U.S. at 368. Specifically, Scott was convicted of a misdemeanor which carried a potential penalty of up to a \$500 fine, up to one year in jail, or both. *Id.* Scott appealed his conviction, relying on the holding in *Argersinger v. Hamlin*, 407 U.S. 25, 37-38 (1972) (holding that a defendant cannot be sentenced to imprisonment unless he/she is represented by counsel), and claiming that the state of Illinois violated his Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights by failing to

appoint state-paid counsel in a criminal action where imprisonment was an authorized penalty. *Id.* The Supreme Court disagreed, instead noting,

"that *Argersinger* did indeed delimit the constitutional right to appointed counsel in state criminal proceedings. Even were the matter *res nova*, we believe that the central premise of *Argersinger* – that actual imprisonment is a penalty different in kind from fines or the mere threat of imprisonment – is eminently sound and warrants adoption of actual imprisonment as the line defining the constitutional right to appointment of counsel." *Scott v. Illinois*, 440 U.S. at 373 (emphasis in the original).

In its holding, the Court further clarified the preceding proposition, stating,

"we therefore hold that the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution require only that no indigent criminal defendant be sentenced to a term of imprisonment unless the State has afforded him the right to assistance of appointed counsel in his defense." *Id.* at 373-74.

This holding was reaffirmed in *Nichols*, wherein the High Court summarized its holding in *Scott* to be "that where no sentence of imprisonment was imposed, a defendant charged with a misdemeanor had no constitutional right to counsel." *Nichols*, 511 U.S. at 743.

In comparing the legal circumstances of the Elbes' case to those of *Scott*, it would appear that the *Argersinger*, *Scott*, *Nichols* rule should apply. The Elbes were found guilty (after rejecting the initially agreed-to deferred prosecution agreements) and not sentenced to imprisonment, but rather to pay fines and costs in the amount of \$253 each. The fines were paid in a timely manner and no imprisonment was ever ordered. As such, pursuant to *Argersinger* and its progeny, no Sixth Amendment right to counsel ever attached to the Elbes, and therefore – irrespective of the Public Defender's and J. Taggart's decisions regarding the

Elbes' indigence – no Fourteenth Amendment due process right was deprived by non-representation.

The Elbes' claim for relief are founded upon the supposed violation of a Constitutional right. As has been shown, the claimed right could not have been violated as it never attached. If the right had not attached, then the Elbes' claims concerning lack of representation are moot and, unless a broader right is found within the Wisconsin Constitution, J. Screnock's oral ruling on the matter should be affirmed.

II. The right to counsel for indigent defendants contained within Art. I, § 7 of the Wisconsin State Constitution is equivalent to that right as contained within the Sixth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution.

The Elbes have argued that the right to counsel offered to criminal defendants by the Art I, § 7 of the Wisconsin Constitution is broader than that afforded under the Sixth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution. While it is understandable why one would think so, it is nevertheless not the case. Directly on point for this issue is the case of *State v. Delebreau*, 2015 WI 55, 362 Wis. 2d 542, 864 N.W.2d 852. In *Delebreau*, the Wisconsin Supreme Court re-examined its holdings in several other cases concerning whether Art. I, § 7 of the Wisconsin Constitution grants a broader right to counsel than the Sixth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution. The court explained that

"where ... the language of the provision in the state constitution is 'virtually identical' to that of the federal provision or where no difference in intent is discernible, Wisconsin courts have normally construed the state constitution

consistent with the United States Supreme Court's construction of the federal constitution." *Id.*, ¶ 51 [quoting *State v. Agnello*, 226 Wis. 2d 164, 180-81, 593 N.W.2d 427 (1999), citing *State v. Tompkins*, 144 Wis.2d 116, 133, 423 N.W.2d 823 (1988)].

The court further noted that it "[saw] no discernible difference between these two provisions as they [related] to the right to counsel," and explained that "[nothing] suggests that 'the right to be heard by ... counsel' should be any more expansive than 'the right ... to have the assistance of counsel[]. *2." Id., ¶ 52 (internal quotations footnoted). The court continued, citing its own decision in *Klessig*, wherein it was stated that

"[a] criminal defendant in Wisconsin is guaranteed this fundamental right to the assistance of counsel for his [sic] defense by both Article I, § 7 of the Wisconsin Constitution and the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution.... The scope, extent, and, thus, interpretation of the right to the assistance of counsel is identical under the Wisconsin Constitution and the United States Constitution." *Id.*, ¶ 55 citing *State v. Klessig*, 211 Wis.2d 194, 201–03, 564 N.W.2d 716 (1997) (footnotes and citations omitted).

Ultimately, after its dissection of the issue at hand, the court held that protections offered under Art. I, § 7 of the Wisconsin Constitution were "coextensive with the right under the federal constitution" and that, "because we hold that [the defendant's] right to counsel was not violated under the Sixth Amendment, we also hold that his right to counsel was not violated under Article I, Section 7 of the Wisconsin Constitution." *Id.*, ¶ 57.

As the forgoing discussion has explained, Art. I, § 7 of the Wisconsin Constitution offers no greater right to counsel than that offered by the federal

² Referring to the operative language from Sixth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution.

9 of 23

¹ Referring to the operative language from Art. I, § 7 of the Wisconsin Constitution.

constitution. As such, pursuant to the Supremacy Clause of the federal constitution (U.S. CONST. art. VI, cl. 2), U.S. Supreme Court case law dictating that a criminal defendant has no right to counsel when not sentenced to incarceration should control on the operative issue in this case and J. Screnock's final order should be affirmed.

III. Any conflict found within the Wisconsin Supreme Court case law should be resolved in favor of the most recent decisions.

Now, with the holdings in *Delebreau* (2015) and *Klessig* (1997) in mind, it should nevertheless be noted that there is potentially unresolved conflict within the Wisconsin Supreme Court's jurisprudence on the seminal issue under consideration in this case: whether the defendant had a right to counsel in an action where only a fine was imposed under Art. I, § 7 of the Wisconsin Constitution.

Specifically among these decisions is that of *State ex rel. Winnie v. Harris*, 75 Wis. 2d 547, 249 N.W.2d 791 (1977) and *State v. Novak*, 107 Wis. 2d 31, 318 N.W.2d 364 (1982). In *Winnie*, though not directly addressed by the facts of the case, the Wisconsin Supreme Court answered a question posed by the Public Defender and Attorney General: "[must] one charged with a crime that carries a jail or prison sentence be advised of his right to counsel and informed that counsel will be furnished at public expense if he is indigent irrespective of whether he is

ultimately incarcerated?" *Id.* at 550. The court answered this question in the affirmative, holding,

"that whenever a defendant is charged with a crime, the penalty for which includes the requirement or option of incarceration, he must be advised of his right to counsel and further advised that if he is indigent counsel will be furnished to him at public expense unless he knowingly and intelligently waives such right to counsel." *Id.* at 556.

The second mentioned case, *Novak*, seemed to reiterate this holding by mentioning (in dicta) that, "[in *Winnie*], this court declared that criminal defendants in Wisconsin state courts were entitled to counsel if the offense for which they were charged was punishable by imprisonment." *Novak*, 107 Wis. 2d at 41.

In comparing the opinions of *Delebreau* and *Klessig* to those of *Winnie* and *Novak*, it would appear that there is a discrepancy. If the holding in *Winnie* and dicta in *Novak* (discussing potentially greater rights of defendants to counsel under the Wisconsin Constitution compared its federal counterpart) are to be held as inviolate, then – logically – the holdings of *Delebreau* and *Klessig* (clearly stating that there is no greater right to counsel offered to criminal defendants under the Wisconsin Constitution than those offered under the federal) must be incorrect. However, if the holdings in *Delebreau* and *Klessig* are to be followed, then the holdings of the older *Winnie* and *Novak* cases must either be viewed as correspondingly incorrect or potentially overruled.

The generally well-settled maxim of *stare decisis* holds that a court should follow its own precedent. *See Progressive N. Ins. Co. v. Romanshek*, 2005 WI 67,

¶ 41, 281 Wis. 2d 300, 325, 697 N.W.2d 417, 429 (string citation omitted). However, the Wisconsin Supreme Court also has the "power to explain, modify, or overrule its own precedents...." *Beecher v. Labor & Indus. Review Comm'n*, 2004 WI 88, ¶ 26, 273 Wis. 2d 136, 155, 682 N.W.2d 29, 39. Further, when conflict exists between two supreme court cases, it is appropriate to follow the holding of the most recently decided case. *Zarnstorff v. Neenah Creek Custom Trucking*, 2010 WI App 147, ¶ 35, 330 Wis. 2d 174, 194, 792 N.W.2d 594, 604 (stating, "[when] we are unable to reconcile two supreme court cases, we follow the latter...") (further citation omitted); *See also Spacesaver Corp. v. Wis. Dep't of Revenue*, 140 Wis. 2d 498, 502, 410 N.W.2d 646, 648 (Ct. App. 1987) ("When the decisions of our supreme court appear to be inconsistent, we follow its most recent pronouncement.") citing *Bruns Volkswagen, Inc. v. DILHR*, 110 Wis. 2d 319, 324, 328 N.W.2d 886, 889 (Ct. App. 1982).

As the holdings in *Delebreau* and *Klessig* were more recently set forth than those in *Winnie* and *Novak*, per the rule laid out by the Court of Appeals in *Zarnstorff*, *Spacesaver*, and *Bruns Volkswagen*, the *Delebreau* and *Klessig* holdings should be followed. Further, as the holdings *Delebreau* and *Klessig* equate the right to counsel under the state and federal constitutions, then the holdings of the U.S. Supreme Court denying a defendant's right to counsel under the federal constitution when a criminal defendant is sentenced to only a fine

should control on this issue.³ As such, the only conclusion is that the circuit court in this action did not err, and thus, J. Screnock's decision should be affirmed.

IV. A motion to vacate a twenty year-old misdemeanor conviction where only limited records are available is barred by the defense of laches.

While it is the State's contention that the Elbes' raised issues are insufficient for the reasons stated in §§ I through III, the Elbes' request for *vacatur* should nevertheless further be denied pursuant to the State's invoked defense of laches. It is generally well-settled law that a criminal defendant

"has a right to post[-]conviction relief that includes both a post[-]conviction motion under Wis. Stat. § 974.02..., and a direct appeal, pursuant to the Wisconsin Constitution, Article I, § 21(1) and Wis. Stat. § 809.30. Once the time for direct appeal has passed, a defendant in a criminal case may collaterally attack his conviction pursuant to a Wis. Stat. § 974.06 motion, *Peterson v. State*, 54 Wis.2d 370, 381, 195 N.W.2d 837 (1972), or via a petition for writ of habeas corpus. *Knight*, 168 Wis.2d at 522, 484 N.W.2d 540." *State ex rel. Coleman v. McCaughtry*, 2006 WI 49, ¶ 16, 290 Wis. 2d 352, 361, 714 N.W.2d 900, 904, *opinion clarified on denial of reconsideration*, 2006 WI 121, ¶ 16, 297 Wis. 2d 587, 723 N.W.2d 424.

That said, there are instances where a criminal defendant may attempt to seek post-conviction relief (via one of the aforementioned routes), but nevertheless have such relief procedurally barred due to the defense of laches.

On point is the case of Marvin Coleman, an inmate who petitioned for state habeas corpus relief on the grounds that his appellate counsel did not attempt to

³ "[T]he Supremacy Clause of the United States Constitution compels adherence to United States Supreme Court precedent on matters of federal law...." *State v. Jennings*, 2002 WI 44, ¶ 3, 252 Wis.2d 228, 647 N.W.2d 142.

appeal a prior conviction. Id., ¶ 3. He commenced his habeas challenge seventeen years after the initial conviction, and – in response – the State asserted the defense of laches. The Wisconsin Supreme Court, in addressing the applicability of the State's laches defense to Coleman's petition held that it did apply (though it was applied incorrectly by the court of appeals in this particular case). Id., ¶ 17. The court adopted a three-element test for the application of laches to such cases, noting that

"the question of whether laches applied to Coleman's petition requires [1] a determination of the reasonableness of the delay in bringing the issue before the court; [2] a determination that the State did not have knowledge that Coleman would be bringing this claim; and [3] a determination of whether the State suffered prejudice due to the delay." *Id*.

In *Coleman*, our supreme court held that the seventeen year delay in filing the petition was unreasonable and that the State did not have notice of the forthcoming claim; however, that the court of appeals erred when they *assumed* that the State suffered actual prejudice. *Id.*, ¶ 37. The court noted that though such an assumption may be correct, "it [was] not the only possible outcome that could result from an inquiry of post[-]conviction counsel." *Id.*, ¶ 36. The court further explained that if the post-conviction counsel *did not* remember the information requested concerning the discussions with Coleman, then the appellate court's assumption would be correct; however, if the attorney *did* have relevant information, then further proceedings on the claim would be required. *Id.*

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